e

“eonsent, within three days.
‘He theninvited Miss Phelps to.
goriding with him in his carriage, .
which turned into the witdest ride;
any person could imagine. After”
& two-hour; lightning-paced, mad

By HELEN N. OTHERSEN
. Staff Reporter ,

A most unusual “love affair”
allegedly occurred nearly 200
years ago because of a royalist
ball held at 2 Ladson Street.

Mr, and Mrs. Phillip Tidyman,
prominent royalists of Charleston
during the time the city was oceu-
pied by the British, held a ball one
night at their home at 2. Ladson
St. The account is- taken from
Margaret R.." Martin’s

*Charleston Ghosts’” and Mrs. St.,

Julien Ravenel's book,

“Charleston, the Place and the .

People.” During ‘the party,
Capt. “Mad Archy". Campbell,

described by Mrs. Ravenel as a.
brave, honorable and “terribly '
---grratic and flighty character,

2asily led into any sort of folly,”
- Hecame infatuated with a- Tory.
- beauty and heiress, Paulina .
-Phelps. Miss Phelps, however,

préferred the attentions of a Phil:

" adelphia - officer, and the proud -

captain wagered his handsome
Arabian horse against 50 pounds,
belonging fo his fellow officers,
that he would marry her, with her

drjve, Campbell tock the half

o You Kno

er near Goose Creek to be mar-
ried. Campbell even carried a
pistol to help matters along in
* case he should lose his bet. Only a
vear after they were wed, he was
killed while attempting te escape
after capture by the colonists, His
young bride died soon after.

Two Ladson St. comprises the .

rear portion of lots 277 and 278,
which were granted in 1694 to
Witliam Bull, ’

. One portion of lot 277 was
owned in 1746 by the second

- Lt.Gov. Bull, with the second por-

tion bought from Henry Middle-
ton by John Deas in 1778.

Ladson’s Court was constructed

partially on each of the two por-
* tions, with the rear lot as an
entrance-way. This rear portion
~ was given by the first Lt. Gov.
William Bull te his' son-in-law,

*+ John Drayton. )
James Clitherale, a later owner
of 2 Ladson St., owed a debt of

4,000 guineas since Feb. 24, 1796,

and was ordered by the court to

sell his land. On Feb. 1, 1800, a
-public auction was held between

il

Your Charleston?

fainting, helpless girl to a preach-

(o

His fory

11 am. and 3 p.m., at which
William Skerving, the highest
bidder, bought it for 2,085 guineas
sterling.

When Skerving died, he also
owed money, again forcing the
sale of the property. Originally,
his plantation, free farm and
Georglan lands were put up for .

. Auction, but 2 Ladson St. was

Rhett Smith aguired it, and a plat
of old Charles Town, dated July
12, 1813, accompanied the deed.
- In 1832, the house was bought
by a descendant of Phillip Tidy-
man, who bore the same name.

- Thereafter, it passed through sey-
Stephen Bull, father of Lt. Gov. "

eral hands before coming into the -
family of B. Owen Geer on Sept. -
14, 1939. It remained there until

. Nov. 11, 1969, when B. Owen Geer

Jr. and his sister, .Louise Patillo
Geer Wardiaw, decided to sell.
The present owners are Dr.
Themas A. Kirkland Jr. and Pa-
tricia Trotter Kirkland.
Two Ladson Si. consists of a

. wooden two-story house, with -
. marble stairs leading to a col-

umned porch entrance. Abuiting
on the east side and situated on
the same property is a smaller

. two-story brick building and

"small -garden, with the house '

being used as a rental unit. It
originally served as a separate
kitchen for the main house.

s
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“THE HISTORY

The house at 2 Ladson Street appears to have begun as e
Georgian double house, which was expanded and femodeled somewhat
during the Adamesque period, and again in the Colonial Revival
periodlof_the turn of the centufy.

It'is-imﬁossible to pinpoint the congtruction date of the
house because of a scarcity of records, pertaining to the
preperty,fdﬁring the 18tn Century. Stylistically, however,
the oldest,features of the house belong to the mid-18th Century.

Historically,_the site of 2 Ladson'was part of Lot No.

277 of the fGrand Modell of Charles Town,” which was granted
by the Lords Proprletors on 19 May 1694 to Stephen Bull, along
w1th Lot No. 2??, adjacent to the south: l The original lots

of the ”Grand Modell” appear to have averaged 100 feet in width
and 200 or more feet in depth.

Stephen Bull, born in 1635 in Warwick, England, arrived
in Carolina in April 1670 aboard the Shlp Carollna, with the
first group of settlers. He was a deputy of two of the Lords

Proprietors and as such was & member of the Grand Council. He



also served in the'Assembly; and in several prestigious appoint-
ive posts.'2 .He died about 1706, leaving Lots No. 276 and_Z??
to his eldest son, William. |

.William:Bull (1683-1755), born-at Ashiey Hall Plantation,

was also an active public'servant, serving in various posts
includinglfhat 6f.Liéutenaht Governor (he is not to be confuéed
wifh his sﬁn; Wiiliam Buil; who was Lieutenant Governor in the
?erioa jﬁét priér £0 the Revolution). By nis marrisge to Mary
Quintyne, he had gseveral children, including a daughter, Char-
1otta (or Charlette), who marrled John Drayton 3
John Drayton {c. 1?13 1779), a son of the immigrant Thomas

Drayton, was a native Carollnlan. He was also a publlc servant,
a ﬁemﬁer of:the.King's bouncil and an assistant judge, but hé
isrprobably best rememberéd'és the_huildéf of'Drayton Ha1l,
qp§ of America's finest Géorgian houses.

‘;. It was to thls 1ilustr10us gon- 1n—1aw that Wlillam Bulil,
.dn 10 December 1746 ccnveyed by a "deed of feoffment,” the
rear half of one of his Meeting Street lots. The deed does

not 1dent1fy the number of the lot, but the descrlptlon fits
-2_ - _ _
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that of 2'Ladéon in later years. The half lot, conveyed to

Drayton, is described as bounding to the north on land of Mr.
William Yeamans; west on Mr. Townsend's land; east on the "front
or other half of the said Lot now in the Pofsession of Thomas

Drayton Esq. and Doctor Bull”; and south "on a Lane or pafsage

leading from the Street Westerly the Length of the said Lott.”

The back lo% is further described as measuring 90 feet "from
Mr. Yéaman‘s Land to the Said Lane,f and 11?.%_feet along the
lane.5 |
William Bull died in 1755, directing in hié will (dated
April, 1755): "I...bequeath the Breadth of tén feet out of each
of my two:Lots in Charles Town to be measured.from the Line
that divides them from the Street Westward thé fuil Length of
the Lof;;ﬁntomy Son William & his heirs in Trust...t§ be:andf
remain a@Lane or Common Pafsage way for the use of those Per-
sons who shall hereafter Pofsefs and enjdy the Lands.joinihg
the samef"é ;Thus he prdvidedrfor fhé'coﬁfinued exigtence of
the lane, 20 feet wide, which later became known as Ladson's

Cour’s.7

How long William Bull's son-in-law, John Drayton, contin-

-3~



ued to "Pofsefs and enjoy” the property now known as 2 Ladson:

Street is not known,-as no deed has been found by which he or
his heirs relinquished ownership. John Drayton perhaps ownéd
the property until his<death in 1779, at Strawberry Ferry on
Cooper Rivef, while fleeing with hig family from the invading
British army under Gen. Prevost.8 There is a possibility that
he‘built the house at 2 Ladson sometime between 1746, whén he
acquired the land, and the Revolution. |
There is a story which would seen to confirm that the house,

now known as 2 Ladson, was standing during the Revolution. Mrs.

St. Julien Ravenel, in;her book, Charleston: The Place and the

People, relates the anecdote of “mad Archy Campbell” attending
a ball "given by a Royalist lady, Mrs. Tidyman, in the house

(
which is now No. 2 Ladson St.” Aécording to the story, ”"mad
Archy” bet his Arab horse that he would marry a certain Miss
Paulina Phelps within threedldays. Subsequenfy, by a ru;e,
Caﬁpbell kidnapped the young lady to the parish church pf Ste.
James, Goose Creek, where they were married in the presénce

of drawn pistols.9 Unfortunately, Mrs. Ravenel did not foot-

not the story, so the:rsource of her information is unknown.

.



It is pdssible that she had the facts confused. Dr. Philip
Tidyman acquired the house at 2 Ladson in 1832, and. it remained
‘ M A » . | 10
the "Tidyman House” until 1863.

No houge appears in the vieinity of 2 Ladson on the fire
insurance map of 1788. The lane or passage, subsequently known
as Ladson's Court, does not appear on the map either, although

11 The absence

it is documented 2s existing as eérly as 1746.
of the cdurt and the house froﬁ.the map could easily have been
an error on the:part of the surveyor.

The construction of‘2 Ladson Street has been attributed
to James Shoolbred, plaﬁter, wﬁo ig said to have.built it c.
179&. That attribution, however, 1s tenuous, as no record can
be foﬁnéuof Shoolbred ever'havihg owned the property. The at-
tributién is apparently based on the 1794 city directory, in
which James Shoulbréd, planfer, ig-listed as residing at 17
Meeting Street. In the same directory, 17 Meeting Street is
also identified as the address of Maj. James Ladson. It is
true that the house; now known asg 2 Ladson, once shared a com-

mon address with the Ladson House, which is now known as 31

Meeting ‘Street, but which originally had its entrance on Ladson.

~5—



For examplé. the 1803 city directory lists jameS'Lédson, plan-
ter, at 13 Meeting Street, and William Skirving, Sr., planter,
at 13 Méeting Street. The 1806 direotory lists Maj. James
Ladson at 13 Meetlng, and Col. W1111am Skerlng at ”Ladson &
Skirving's court 13 Meeting-street.” The 1807 dlrectory lists
Maj., James Ladson at ”13 Meeting-street ladson's court,” and
  §91. William Sgirving_at ”Ladson.& Skirvings court 13 Meeting-
"gtreet.” e a
Proving that Jaﬁes Shoolbred livéd,aﬁ_g.Ladson in 1794,

however, iélnotgﬁhéfsamé as proving that hé Built the house.
'.He may havé:béen the fenant 6frsomeone else —-- perhaps an
' héir-of John.Drayton or perhaps Col. William Skirving. Shool-
bred.subsequently li;ed_at the corner of Lamboll and Legare |
stfeets, in a house which, interestingly, he bought from Col.
Skirving in 1800.%%

. Skirving, who is documented as living at 2 Ladson (then
13 Meeting) in 1803, is also documented as owning the. property -
by that time. On 15 November 1803, he purchased-from John H.
Jeffords, a James Island planter, a piece of land “formerly
belonging to Ann Townsend,” measuring from east to west 48 feet,
and in length from north to south, 89 feet. The lot bounded

to the east on land already owned by William Skirving. A
6
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plat accompanying the deed shows thé lot, ﬁhich for: many years
was_the'garden'of 2 Ladsbn.13

william Skirving, the Tirst documenﬁed owner and resident
of 2 Ladson Street, was a son of James Skirving, a planter of
St. Bartholomew's Parish. By his first marriage in 1766 to
Mary Sacheverell, the only child aﬁd heiress of Thomas Sachéver~
ell, he acquired several plantations in St. Bartholomew’s Parish.
She died in 1768, at the age of 18. The following year, he
married Anne Holland Hutchinson, daughterﬁof'Thbmas and Rebecca
Hutchinson. Skirving served in the Commons House of Assembly,
the First and Second Provincial'Congresses;'and:the General 5
Assembly. During the Revolution, he rose from Captain.(1775)
to.Colonel*(I??B)'in the militia. He commanded a regiment at
tne.Battlé éf Port Royal in 1778, énd afterwards served with

Gen. Francis Marion. After the war, he returned to plantingjlu

%_Skirving was deceased by 9 November 1812, whenihis grand-
-childreh,'Wil;iém Skirving énd the children of Thomas Rhett
Smifh;'exhibitéd their Bill of Complaint in the Court of Egquity,
against Thomas Rhett Smith and Ann,‘his.wife. the executor and
executrix of Col. Skirving's will. ‘The suit alleged that Col.

....?._.




Skirving's will had directed that ﬁis plantation in Georgia
be sold for the payment of his debts. But as no purchaser could
be fouﬁd for the plantation, it was.:necessary to sell his other
property. The court ordered the property sold at auction.l5

The public notice of the auction listed "The House and
Lot in Ladsgon's Court, Meeting—street,.the present residence
of T. R. Smith.” Also listed to be sold at auctioﬁ wére'lots
on East Bay‘and_a;plantation, called "Bull's,” in 5t. Barthol-
omew's Parish, belonging to the estate of Col. Skirving.16

At the;auction,-held_on 16 February 1813, the property
in Ladsoﬁ's;Court was sold to Thomas Rhett Smith for $&,500.
The plat annexed to the deed shows the house, which by then.
had acquirea its Adaﬁesque.ﬁay.on the west side; two outbuildings

of brick and one of wood; and a large'garden with a small brick

ﬁStructure,:probablypa privy, in the northwest corner. . The house.

was set‘slightly back from the court, with a semi-oval space

in front, and fan-shaped steps leading into the nouse. 17
Thomas:R. Smith, planter, is listed as residing in Ladson's

Court in 1813.18
On 1 February 1817, Thomas Rhett Smith sold. the property

_8-



to Hugh Smith for'$12,000.19' Smith; a merchant, had his bus-
ineS§ at 7 Broad Street and.livéd.étz Ladsoh.zo
Hugh Smith sold the property to Thomas Napier, on'b June
 ;1821, for $12,OOO;21 ‘The salé was pérfly to pay off a judge-
ment which had been:obtained against Hugh Smith by Napier and
Agnes Smith, who held a mortgage on the property, and by Alex-
'iander Sinclair and Charles Kiddell; other creditors of Hugh _"
Smith. Following the sale of the propérty to Napiér, Agnes
Smith, along with Sinclair and Kiddell, signed a.qﬁit-Claim
deed, felegsing thé prenises from any claims on their part,
“on 27 June 1821.22

Napier,:a partner in therfirm of Napier, Rupelye‘& Bennett,

at 17 Vendue Range, lived in Iadson's Court for Several,years.23

He then sold the property to Dr. Philip Tidyman, on 27 April
21y |

1832, fér $9,000.
Dr. Tidyman, a physician and planter, lived at 2 Ladson's
Court until at least 1849.25 He died in 1859, leaving to his
daughter; Susan Tidyman, for and during her natural life, the-
~use of the house and lot in Ladsoh's Court, . in which he had
resided. The executors of his will were to keep the estate

-9~
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"intact and pay:iher $3{000 a'yéar. “After her death, the property
was to be sold and the proceeds dist?ibuted among Dr. Tidyman's
nieces.26 Miss'Héstef 7. brayton,'who resided at 2 Ladson's
Court in 1859, 1860 and 1861, was probably Susan Tidyman's
guardian.27 Miserrayton ig listed as the "next ftiénd” of
Suéah Tidyman; in a Cogr% of Equity suit against the'exe¢qtofs
of Tidyman's-éstate, brought.on-27 May 1863. The bill of com-
pléint alleged that.bécause of the the current war, the income
from the trust could not.be paid, and therefore it was heces-
sary to sell the property'ofithé estate in order to provide for
Susan Tidyman. The court, on 4 November 1863, ordered the prop-
erty sold. Dr;”Tidyméh's”executors accordingly sold the prop=.
erty to Allan Macfarlan, on 26 November i853, for $19,000.28
'Mécfarlan'diedlin-Chesterf@eld-COunty'in March, - 1869,
leaving a Willﬂdirecting'that after payment of his debts, the
rgstvof his estate was to be divided among his several children.
Hié pérsonal property proving ingufficient to pay Macfarlan's' 
debts, the.executofS'bf his will filed suit in the Court of
Coﬁmbh Pleas, Cheéterfield County, asking that Macfarlan’s real
estate be sold. Consequently, William J. Hamna,. Clerk of Court

-10-



of Chesterfield'COunty,.was ordered to sell the property at
auction in'Chaflestonfzg The cbnduct of the sale was delegated

30 George B. Edwards

to R. M. Marshall & Brother,'auctioneers.
bought the.propérty.at auction for a high bid of $14.600, on
5 March 1891.31 .

Georgé_B;'Edwards, president of the Exchange Banking and
Trust Companj of Charleston, apparently never lived.at 2 Ladson,
but residea>ét 4 Tadson. At the time of Edwards' purchase of
the property, it waé the residence of the_Ref. Charles Cotes-
worth,Pinékney, rector of Grace Episcopal Church, Whp had been
there.sincé11886. After Edwards' purchase of 2 Lgdson, the__
property'w#s listed as "vacant® in city directories until 1905.32

Edﬁaras, who had also acquired fhe lot to the west of 2
Ladson,-f;gnting on King Street, which had belonged,tq_Mgcfarlan,
conveyed-f; fhé'Cify Council of Charleston.in 1893 a-.strip fo
1and to extend Ladson's Gourt to King Street, and to widen the
| thoroughfafe'to 30 feet. The older part of the court_wés_
widened atiihe;saﬁé time, leaving the fronf steps qf 2 Ladson
encroaching onerfoot onto the right of way. The deed provided

however, “that the present encroachment of about one foot upon

~11-



'thé¥étréet made by the ffont Sfeps ofltﬁe'dwelling house oxn.vnedT
by'me on the north side of the street as hﬁw opened and hext_
Eéét of my residence shall be allowed'to'femain as they are
~and should the same at any time bé reinoved or destroyed, they
may be replaced by me orlby my heirs of_assigns;..so as to
'décupy the same position and space upon the street which they "
nOW.OC¢pr_n33 That provision has continued into the:prgsent-
bwnership.34

Edwards, on 10 December 1902, sold the property at 2
Ladson to William M., Bird, for $10,000.35 Bird also bought
a court suit,. -however, as Anna P; Pickens, who héld mortgages
on ghe property, filed for foreclogure and sale. On 3 Sep-
tember 1903, the Master in Equity sold the property to Bird
for an.addiﬁional $9,5OO.36 Bird, on 28 March 1904, sold
the prqperty to Virginia B. Robertson, for $6,500.3?

Mfs. Robertson and her husband, Jenkins M. Robertson,
a fertilizer broker with offices at 16 Broad Street, lived at
2 Ladson Street for more than 30 years.38

Then, on 14 September 1939, Mrs.‘Robertson sold the
property to B. Owen Geer, Sr., for $25,OOO.39 Geer, president

12



of Geer Drug Company, COnve&ed 2 Ladson to his wifé, Louisa F.
Geer, on 5 March 1942.u0- After her death in 1967, their chlld—
ren, B. Pwen Geer, Jr.; and Loulsa Patillo Geer Wardlaw, sold.
their 1nterest in the property to their father. 4; He returned
the title to them on 31 October 1969. 2;

on 21 November 196§;.B. Dwen Geer, Jr., and LouisarPgtillo
Geer Wardlaw conveyed the property to the p:esent oWnerS' Dr. 

and Mrs. Thomas A. Kj.r'k:.’La'anl.u'3

"513- .



THE STRUCTURE

 The house at 2 Ladson obviously started out as a medium;
sized Georgian-double house of two stories, with four rooms
to a floor, divided by accentral hall and stairhall.

,_Thé consﬁrudtion.date of the original portion Qf the
house cannot be”determined, because of the scarcity of records.
Stylistically, however, it belongs to thé.Geofgiaﬁ period'aﬁd
was probably built before the Revolution, despite ifs absence
from the 1788 fire insurance map. |

The only.documéntédowner of the property before the

Revolutimn wag John Drayton, who aéquired the land in 1?46.
1t is possible he built the house, either as his town residence
or as a rental property. Two Ladson isg obvioﬁsly neithef ag
grand nor as fine architecturally as John Draytoﬁ's geat,
Drayton Hall.. However, the coincidence of 2 Ladson having a
dréwing room overmantel with a broken pediment must be remarked
u?on. All the major rooms at Drayton Hall have overmanfels with
broken pediments, but all of course of a much more elaborate
order than the one at 2 TLadson. | |

_;]_l;,_



The overmantel is in a rectangular room on the second

level, whiéh assuredly was the original drawing room. The
manfel ﬁndef the overmantel has crossettes in raised molding,
and consoles; Other Georgian manfels aré found in tﬁe dining
Toom on fhe first level and in the briginal rear rooms. The
overmantels in the rear:Tooms On the Tirst level have extreme-
ly wide boafd panels. The dining réom also hag a cornice with
modillions and wainécotting.with raised panels, in the Georgian
style. The rather elaborate main staircase igs also in the
Georgian style, but there is some question about its being
original.

At some point, the southwest front room on each floor
was expandedlto.the west, ending'in a three-sided bow._ The
expandéd TOOmMS wWere redecorated in the Adamesque style, with
the danstairs.réoms acquiring_a pgrticularly elaboraté mantel
with clasSié figures in a triﬁmphal march in the centerblock,
~more classic figureé in the cornerblbcks, swags in the frieze
anleower of the Winds pilasters flanking the fireplace opening.

The dentilled cornice and flat-paneled wainscoting are also in

the Adamesque taste. The expansion and remodeling was accom-

~15—




plished by 1813, as %he bow appears on the house -in a plat of
that year. o

Af a later date,_the house was?remodeled in the Colonial
Revival stYlg which was popular in the -1890s and early'19008.
This was acédmplished affer the Widening of Ladsoh Stregt~in
1893, as a plat of that time shows the house with the=sam¢‘
1configuration as in 1813, withbqt fhe presént shallow fronf
plazza with its slender coilonettes;'ihe fwo s%qry:piézza,
ﬂdﬁ.encloséd} on the east éidé, the triangular window in the
| frgnt pediment and the reér wing wefe-probablyaall-cpntemﬁér-
aneous. "Accordiﬁg to tradition;_fhé réar wing'ﬁés added by
fhe Robertsons, although a rear wing is shown on thé Sanborn
insurance map in 189&.‘ Intérior woodwérk in the rear wing is

‘typical of the period from c. 1900 to c. .1920.

16—
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